STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Charleston County

SEP 30 2015

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER TERRELL GILYARD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001714

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether, after the jury requested reinstruction on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge erred in refusing appellant's request for a circumstantial evidence charge pursuant to State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013) because the judge was "not aware of Logan changing anything in the prevailing law?"

2.

Whether the trial judge erred in charging the Rape Shield Statute to the jury after the jury returned with a question about testimony that the complainant had been involved in another rape allegation?

3.

Whether the trial judge erred in charging the jury that the complainant's testimony did not have to be corroborated, when this charge is error, the charge as a whole contained serious errors, and was unduly emphasized by placing it at the end of the charge and no evidence existed except for complainant's inconsistent allegations?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 9, 2013, a Charleston County grand jury indicted appellant Christopher Gilyard for Second Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor. R. 366. On July 28, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury. R. 1. Shannon Elliott and Debbie Herring-Lash represented the State. R. 1. Charles Cochran and Annie Andrews represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 338, ll. 12 – 19. Judge Jefferson sentenced appellant to thirteen years' imprisonment. R. 356, ll. 19 – 23. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

After the jury requested reinstruction on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge erred in refusing appellant's request for a circumstantial evidence charge pursuant to State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013) because the judge was "not aware of Logan changing anything in the prevailing law."

### **Relevant Facts**

#### *The Evidence at Trial*

Appellant Christopher Gilyard ("Gilyard") was a barber. R. 132, ll. 24 – 25. Gilyard was thirty-one years old when he began working at complainant's mother's beauty salon. R. 133, ll. 8 – 10. The sixteen year old complainant ("Minor") alleged that appellant Christopher Gilyard ("Gilyard") assaulted and raped her during the middle of the afternoon at the beauty salon while her mother was running errands and her cousin was taking a nap in the lobby. R. 50, l. 13 – 56, l. 25.

According to the complainant, on the afternoon of the alleged assault, a Wednesday, complainant's mother ("Mother") was working at another location. R. 51, ll. 1 – 5. Another employee, Angela Fuller ("Fuller"), was not in the salon because "she always leaves early on Wednesdays." R. 51, ll. 1 – 5. Fuller flatly contradicted complainant and testified there was "No particular day" when she left early and that her schedule depended on her clientele. R. 126, ll. 3 – 12. Fuller did not remember a day when she left complainant, her cousin, and Gilyard alone at the shop. R. 127, ll. 17 – 24.

Gilyard helped put complainant's cousin down for a nap. R. 53, ll. 15 – 20. Complainant went to the bathroom. R. 53, ll. 15 – 20. When she came out of the

bathroom, Gilyard was standing in the doorway. R. 53, ll. 15 – 20. Gilyard began touching her and complainant tried to get past him. R. 53, l. 23 – 54, l. 4. Gilyard pushed complainant to the ground, flipped her over, and began removing complainant's clothing. R. 54, ll. 2 – 16. Gilyard "peeped out to see if anybody was trying to come to the store" and then had forcible vaginal intercourse with the complainant. R. 54, l. 21 – 56, l. 4. Complainant believed Gilyard rushed to the bathroom to ejaculate. R. 56, ll. 5 – 9. Gilyard then went back to his station in the salon, packed his stuff, and as he was leaving, told complainant not to tell anyone or he would kill her. R. 56, ll. 14 – 25.

After Gilyard left, complainant's brother and girlfriend arrived at the salon. R. 57, ll. 1 – 7. They brought sandwiches. R. 57, ll. 1 – 4. Complainant did not tell them about the rape she had just experienced moments before. R. 57, ll. 5 – 14. Gilyard came back to work later that evening and continued to work at the salon for a period of time thereafter. R. 57, ll. 15 – 24.

Complainant's brother's girlfriend, Ashley Whaley ("Whaley") remembered the day differently. Contradicting complainant's testimony, when Whaley arrived at the store, Gilyard was still present. R. 195, ll. 5 – 17. She remembered bringing sandwiches. Day 3 Tr. 10, ll. 7 – 16. She brought sandwiches to the shop once. R. 196, l. 17 – 19. Whaley spoke with Gilyard. R. 198, ll. 21 – 25. Gilyard asked complainant's brother to make him a sandwich. R. 198, ll. 21 – 25. The brother told Gilyard to make his own sandwich. R. 198, ll. 21 – 25. Whaley made Gilyard a sandwich "and watched him eat it." R. 198, ll. 21 – 25. Whaley unequivocally testified that Mother was not present while she was at the salon. R. 199, ll. 14 – 16. This testimony conflicted with complainant's version in which Mother returned while Whaley and her brother were at

the salon. R. 102, ll. 1 – 9. Mother testified that Gilyard was at the salon when she returned, but Whaley was not there. R. 153, ll. 8 – 21.

On cross-examination, complainant testified that Mother was gone for about an hour running errands. R. 82, ll. 16 – 18. Fuller was at the salon for almost the entire time her mother was gone. R. 84, ll. 19 – 21. Complainant claimed that she screamed when Gilyard pushed her down. R. 91, l. 11 – 92, l. 21. She testified that she stopped screaming because Gilyard threatened her. R. 92, ll. 19 – 21. When defense counsel confronted complainant with a prior inconsistent statement to investigators that Gilyard had put his hand over her mouth to keep her from screaming, complainant abruptly jumped up and ran from the courtroom without the trial judge's permission. R. 92, l. 12 – 94, l. 11. Judge Jefferson admonished the complainant for her behavior. R. 95, ll. 2 – 9.

When cross-examination resumed, complainant claimed she suffered no injuries other than the sexual assault even though she had been pushed down. R. 97, ll. 17 – 23. Complainant said she did not remember also telling a counselor that she did not scream was because she did not want to wake up her cousin. R. 116, ll. 15 – 19. The forensic interviewer confirmed that complainant told her "she wanted to scream while she was being assaulted, but that her nephew was sleeping, so she didn't." R. 212, ll. 3 – 12.

At some point after the alleged attack, Gilyard stopped coming to work. R. 57, ll. 20 – 24. Complainant told her mother about the rape while they were in a car on a shopping trip. R. 58, ll. 2 – 24. Mother had been calling Gilyard to find out why he had not been coming to work. R. 104, ll. 9 – 21. Complainant asked her mother why she was worried about whether Gilyard came to work or not. R. 104, l. 22 – 105, l. 1. Her mother then repeatedly asked complainant whether something had happened with Gilyard. R.

104, l. 15 – 105, l. 4. Mother testified she pulled the car into the median and told complainant “you’re going to tell me what’s going on and you’re going to tell me now.” R. 139, ll. 15 – 19.

Mother described Gilyard as “an excellent barber.” R. 132, ll. 24 – 25. Mother claimed that Gilyard would let complainant use his phone to access the Internet when her access had been forbidden by her mother. R. 136, ll. 16 – 22. Mother “witnessed them doing a pinky swear” and when she questioned complainant, complainant told her it was because Gilyard was letting her use the phone. R. 136, ll. 16 – 25. During her direct testimony, it was clear that the “pinky swear” occurred before the day of the alleged rape. R. 137, ll. 14 – 25. Complainant also testified about the pinkie swear. R. 48, ll. 3 – 14. Inconsistently, Mother originally told the police that the “pinky promise” happened on the same day as the alleged rape. R. 147, l. 4 – 148, l. 3. A police officer testified that she was under the impression that the “pinky swear” happened on the incident date. R. 224, ll. 10 – 13.

On direct-examination, Mother said that she noticed her daughter’s behavior changed after the assault because “she started sitting under the dryer with her headset and with the dryer that over her head.” R. 141, ll. 3 – 7. On cross-examination, Mother claimed complainant was “anemic; she always sits under the dryer with the dryer on.” R. 165, ll. 20 – 24.

The police questioned Gilyard. R. 226, ll. 18 – 19. Even though the police had no semen from the barbershop, they asked him “if his semen was there, why would it be.” R. 227, l. 15 – 228, l. 1. The police officer agreed they were trying to get Gilyard to

admit to a crime. R. 228; ll. 2 – 4. The State produced no evidence that Gilyard ever admitted raping complainant.

*The Jury's Deliberations and the Circumstantial Evidence Charge*

The trial judge initially gave the following charge on circumstantial evidence:

Ladies and gentlemen, there are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial, direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness.

Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact.

The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, nor is there greater degree of certainty required to circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all of the evidence in this case. After weighing all of the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty. Conversely, if you are convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, then you must find him guilty.

R. 289, ll. 7 – 23. The jury began deliberating at 2:02PM. R. 297, ll. 5 – 6.

After sending out its first question which will be addressed in Issue 2 of this brief, the jury then asked at 2:48 PM to listen to complainant's testimony. R. 309, ll. 20 – 23. At 5:25 PM, the jury sent another note that read, "the jury is not unanimous." R. 312, ll. 2 – 3. The trial judge gave the jury an Allen charge. R. 314, l. 2 – 317, l. 24. Following the Allen charge, the jury at 6:12 PM asked for a copy of the court's entire charge. R. 318, ll. 8 – 12. The trial judge refused to give the jury the entire charge and instead told them if there was some specific instruction they needed, she would accommodate their request. R. 318, ll. 13 – 19. At 6:22 PM, the jury sent two notes, first asking whether they could resume deliberations in the morning and also requesting reinstruction "on

circumstantial and direct evidence.” R. 319, ll. 5 – 17. The trial judge dismissed the jury for the evening and told them she would reinstruct them the next morning. R. 320, l. 5 – 322, l. 3.

The next morning, the trial judge told the attorneys she would instruct the jury on State v. Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997). R. 326, ll. 8 – 13. The jury returned and Judge Jefferson repeated the same charge previously given. R. 327, ll. 2 – 21. The jury exited and neither the State nor the defense noted any exceptions. R. 329, l. 24 – 330, l. 3. The jury exited at 9:51 AM. R. 329, l. 24.

The court returned from the subsequent recess and defense counsel requested that the trial judge additionally charge the jury on State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013). R. 331, ll. 2 – 8. The trial judge first stated that the time to object to her charge had passed. R. 331, l. 9 – 332, l. 5. She stated she reads the advance sheets as soon as they are published and she was unaware “of Logan changing anything in the prevailing law.” R. 333, ll. 6 – 13. The trial judge then stated she would go back to her office and review Logan. R. 333, ll. 15 – 24. The court then took a recess. R. 334, l. 3. The times when the court returned from and left the bench for this discussion were not recorded by the court reporter.

The court returned from the recess and stated that she had reviewed Logan. R. 334, ll. 4 – 10. She distinguished Logan because the instant case had eyewitness testimony. R. 334 l. 18 – 335 l. 7. The trial judge stated the eyewitness testimony was “the direct testimony of the victim in this case who was bold enough to articulate what she contends happened to her on this particular incident. So in this case in particular what the jury really is looking at is the creditability and believability of direct evidence;

not substantial circumstantial evidence, which would reasonably tend to prove the defendant's guilt." R 335 ll. 1 – 7. The trial judge further reasoned a Logan charge was not required because the State in the instant case "did not rely solely on circumstantial evidence." R. 335, l. 25 – 336, l. 10. She described Logan as having "some discretionary language that the defense could have requested," but that a Logan charge would be, "almost cumulative to some extent because it just repeats what is repeated at least five or six times in the court's instruction regarding the State's burden of proof." R. 335, l. 25 – 336, l. 5. Judge Jefferson again stated that the request was not timely. R. 336, ll. 11 – 12. She ultimately concluded that her circumstantial evidence charge "says about the same thing." R. 337, ll. 4 – 8. The trial judge then informed the parties that the jury reached a verdict and the jury returned at 10:28 AM. R. 337, ll. 9 – 13.

### **Discussion**

In Logan, the Supreme Court held "that trial courts should provide the following language as a circumstantial evidence charge, in addition to a proper reasonable doubt instruction, when so requested by defendant..." Logan at 99, 747 S.E.2d at 452. The relevant language from Logan that the trial court in this case was required to give, but refused, was, "to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If these circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed." *Id.* This language from Logan adds substantially to a jury's understanding of circumstantial evidence as compared to the charge given by the trial judge. Contrary to

the trial judge's reasoning, there is a difference between the charge required by Logan and the Grippon charge. In fact, this difference is the entire thrust of the Logan opinion.

Nothing in Logan contemplates discretion with the trial judge to avoid giving this charge if direct as well as circumstantial evidence exist in a case. Logan had both direct and circumstantial evidence. The defendant in Logan was accused of attempted rape and strong arm robbery. Id. at 86, 747 S.E.2d at 445 – 46. The complainant gave direct evidence in the form of her testimony. Id. She testified that the defendant entered a restroom in a bar, choked her, punched her, and attempted to sexually assault her. Id. at 86-87, 747 S.E.2d at 445-46. Since direct evidence existed in Logan, the trial judge's reasoning that the existence of direct evidence in this case barred appellant's requested charge is erroneous.

Furthermore, under the circumstances of this case, there was no reason for the trial judge to deny the request for the Logan charge as untimely. The court had already brought the jury back and reinstructed them on circumstantial evidence in response to a question. A short amount of time passed before appellant requested the Logan charge. It would have been a simple matter to provide the requested instruction, but the trial judge refused. Specifically in this case where the circumstantial evidence did not support the State's case, especially considering the inconsistencies in complainant's and her mother's testimony, the jury was rightfully concerned about how to review the circumstantial evidence (or lack thereof). Failure to give the requested charge on the facts of this case and concerning how the issue was raised during deliberations was error and this case should be reversed.

The trial judge erred in charging the Rape Shield Statute to the jury after the jury returned with a question about testimony that the complainant had been involved in another rape allegation.

**Relevant Facts**

Prior to trial, appellant made an offer of proof concerning prior false allegations of rape made by appellant. R. 9, ll. 2 – 20. The trial judge heard these matters in-camera during complainant’s testimony. R. 61, l. 2 – 78, l. 21. The allegation was made in Berkeley County. R. 61, ll. 8 – 12. The case was dismissed. R. 64, ll. 16 – 65, l. 11. Appellant alleged that complainant on Facebook identified someone as her rapist who was not the person against whom she had made the allegation in Berkeley County. R. 68, ll. 9 – 14. The trial judge refused to allow any questioning or evidence to be presented pursuant to South Carolina’s Rape Shield Statute. R. 68, l. 15 – 78, l. 21.

Mother later testified on direct-examination that after she learned of the assault, she took complainant to her doctor to have her tested for sexually transmitted diseases. What Mother did not explain on direct-examination, but admitted on cross-examination, was that she did not tell the doctor about complainant’s allegation of sexual assault. R. 159, l. 20 – 23. The following then occurred:

Q. And he did not examine her; do a physical examination in that regard because he was not aware of the allegation, correct? Yes or no?

A. No. Permission to speak freely?

THE COURT: Ma’am, you can explain your answer.

A. Okay. **My daughter was statutory raped a year before** while she – a year before an incident happened with her. I was embarrassed. I just felt like because I told him she was uncomfortable

with him playing with her like that being an adult he would understand.  
But he saw – to me I feel like he saw her as an easy target –

MR. COCHRAN: – Your Honor –

A. – so I was embarrassed to tell my doctor yet again that this happened to her a second time. So no, I did not.

MR. COCHRAN: I believe we have a matter of law, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Approach.

[Whereupon, an off the record bench conference is held]

THE COURT: Continue.

R. 159, l. 24 – 160, l. 19 (emphasis added).

Soon after beginning her charge to the jury, the trial judge said, “You are to consider only the competent evidence that is before you. And you are to disregard and disabuse from your mind any testimony stricken from the record in this case during the progress of this trial, if there has been any.” R. 285, ll. 12 – 23. The jury had not even deliberated for thirty minutes when they sent out the following questions: “During [mother’s] testimony, she mentioned [complainant] was involved in a statutory rape one year prior; is this statement admissible? ... What type of statutory rape?” R. 297, ll. 4 – 12.

Without asking for argument from the attorneys, the trial judge stated she would give the standard charge that “all of the evidence in this case has been presented to you” and the court cannot answer factual questions. R. 297, l. 13 – 298, l. 7. The trial judge then indicated she would “instruct them that pursuant to the South Carolina Code Section 16–3–659.1, which we commonly refer to as the rape shield statute, that they are not to consider evidence of specific instances of the victim’s sexual conduct... in their

deliberations and in any manner whatsoever, or on the guilt or innocence of the defendant.” R. 298, ll. 8 – 16. Defense counsel objected to the rape shield statute instruction. R. 299, ll. 3 – 4.

The trial judge stated:

THE COURT: They are clearly considering whether she was raped before as to whether she could in some way – it just can’t be considered. **I allowed it in**, although it was spontaneously uttered in response to a question in the way you structured it. You are in some ways the architect of your own dilemma in the way you asked the question of the witness and she provided you an answer which I don’t know if the State prepped their witness or not, but she should not have mentioned previous statutory case in Berkeley. But nevertheless, they can consider that on her credibility. And so they can consider her testimony in its totality and give it whatever weight they determine it should have. But I’m not going to leave them with the impression that somehow they can consider whether she was a victim of a statutory rape in Berkeley County, because they can’t. Under the law they are prohibited from doing that.

R. 299, ll. 5 – 20. Defense counsel objected that the evidence was admitted and the jury was not told to disregard it. R. 299, l. 21 – 300, l. 1.

When the jury returned, the trial judge first told them they were the finders of facts, that all of the evidence in the case had been presented, and the court cannot answer factual questions. R. 302, l. 14 – 303, l. 12. The trial judge then stated:

In response to your second question: What type of statutory rape? I instruct you as follows: Under South Carolina law, you cannot consider specific instances of the victim’s sexual conduct, opinion evidence of the victim’s sexual conduct, and reputation of the victim’s sexual conduct in making a decision in this case and in your deliberation of this matter on the guilt or innocence of the defendant. Under South Carolina law, those matters cannot be considered.

R. 303, ll. 13 – 21.

## Discussion

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