ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

SEP 30 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-001714

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

CHRISTOPHER TERELL GILYARD,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETTE A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's claim that the trial court erred in refusing his request for a circumstantial evidence jury charge pursuant to State v. Logan is not preserved for appellate review because his request was untimely and, to the extent this Court finds it was preserved, the trial court properly denied the request where: (1) it had already given the Grippon circumstantial evidence charge two times without objection, (2) the State's case relied almost entirely upon direct evidence rather than circumstantial evidence, and (3) the charge given was an accurate statement of the law.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in declining his request for a circumstantial evidence jury charge pursuant to Logan because it would have added substantially to the jury's understanding of circumstantial evidence as compared to the charge given by the trial judge. He seems to acknowledge his request for the charge was untimely but argues that under the circumstances of his case there was no reason to deny the request. Appellant argues that since only a short amount of time had passed before he requested the Logan charge, "it would have been a simple matter to provide the requested instruction." He claims the charge was particularly needed because the circumstantial evidence did not support the State's case. The State disagrees and submits all of these arguments are without merit.

Initially, any issue with the trial judge's instructions to the jury was not properly preserved for appellate review because Appellant did not request a charge pursuant to Logan at the charge conference and did not object to the Grippon circumstantial evidence charge either before or after it was first given. Appellant specifically stated he took no exception to the trial judge's jury instructions and only objected after the Grippon charge was presented to the jury, without objection, a second time after the jury resumed its

deliberations. However, regardless of any issue preservation concerns, the trial court properly rejected Appellant's request where giving the Logan instruction after twice giving the Grippon charge without objection would have been inconsistent and confusing to the jury, where the State's case was based almost entirely on direct evidence, and where the charge given was an accurate statement of the law. Furthermore, even assuming the Logan charge should have been given when the trial court was recharging circumstantial evidence, any error was harmless in light of the jury charge as a whole. The trial court properly rejected Appellant's request for a Logan charge and his conviction should be affirmed.

Argument is not Preserved for Appeal

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the Petitioner; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-13 (Ct. App. 2004). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). Regarding the requirement that a timely objection be raised, a defendant must make a contemporaneous objection to a perceived error during trial in order to preserve the issue for further review. State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994). Thus, when a perceived error arises, the defendant must object at the first opportunity to do so or the issue is waived. State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993).

In addition to the general requirements of our issue preservation rules, the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure also provide specific guidance in regard to raising

and preserving an objection to a jury charge. See Rule 20, SCRCrimP (outlining the requirements for requesting jury instructions and objecting to a jury charge). Pursuant to Rule 20, a defendant must object to the jury charge as given or request an additional charge when afforded the opportunity to do so in order to properly preserve an objection to a charge. State v. Stone, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985); see Rule 20(a), SCRCrimP (“All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of the evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.”); Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection.”). The rule in South Carolina “is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge.” State v. Williams, 266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976).

In Lundy v. Lititz Mut. Ins. Co., Inc., 232 S.C. 1, 10, 100 S.E.2d 544, 548 (1957), this Court considered whether an objection to a jury instruction first raised when that instruction was presented to the jury for a second time was sufficient to preserve an issue with the instruction for appellate review. In Lundy, the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law at the conclusion of trial. Id. Once his jury charge was finished, the trial judge excused the jury and inquired of counsel if there were any objections to the charge or if any additional instructions were desired. Id. Defense counsel did not object to the charge as given but did ask the trial judge to present an additional instruction to the

jury. Id. In response to that request, the trial judge recalled the jury, instructed them in the manner requested, and then presented further instructions to the jury that were “substantially the same” as instructions he had presented during his initial jury charge. Id. Subsequently, after the jury reached a verdict adverse to the defendants, one of the defendants appealed, arguing the trial judge’s further instructions violated the constitutional prohibition against judicial comments on the facts. Id. On appeal, this Court indicated it believed the challenged instructions constituted an unconstitutional comment on the facts. Id. However, this Court declined to reverse the case because it found the defendant’s constitutional objection to the instructions had been waived. Id. In reaching that conclusion, this Court stated:

[I]n the main charge . . . , the Court gave substantially the same instructions as those now complained of. If appellant thought these instructions violated Article 5, Section 26 of the Constitution, which we are inclined to think they did, counsel should have made timely objection when the jury was excused at the conclusion of the main charge. They waived the objection by failing to do so. Appellant cannot now complain of the Court’s repeating substantially the same instruction to which counsel failed to object when given an opportunity to do so.

Id. (citations omitted).

Just like the defendant in Lundy, Appellant failed to preserve any issue with the jury charge on circumstantial evidence by not timely and contemporaneously objecting either before or after the Grippon charge was given, and by affirmatively stating he had no exceptions to that charge. During the charge conference, Appellant did not raise any issue in regard to the judge’s decision to give the Grippon circumstantial evidence charge. After that charge was then given to the jury, the trial judge inquired if Appellant had any exceptions and Appellant indicated he did not. See State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 600, 211 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1975) (“At the conclusion of the charge, an opportunity

was afforded to counsel to make any objections thereto. No objection was made that the instructions given were inadequate nor were any additional requests made to the court. The failure to timely request a specific charge or charges constituted a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of asserted errors in the charge.”). By failing to object to the Grippon instruction before or after the charge had been given and by allowing the jury to retire and begin deliberations without objection, Appellant waived any issue with the circumstantial evidence instruction. See Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.”).

Appellant then compounded his untimeliness when, after the jury was instructed and began its deliberations, it submitted a request necessitating further instruction on direct and circumstantial evidence. Before bringing the jury back out, the trial judge indicated she intended to re-instruct the jury on Grippon, exactly as she did before, and offered Appellant an opportunity to raise any exceptions to the proposed reinstruction. Once again, Appellant did not object or raise any issue in regard to the circumstantial evidence charge that had already been presented to the jury. Thereafter, the trial judge reinstructed the jury on circumstantial evidence pursuant to Grippon. Only after the trial judge had instructed the jury on circumstantial evidence for the second time did Appellant raise an objection to the Grippon charge and request Logan. As recognized by the trial judge, at that point in trial the proper time to raise a timely objection to the circumstantial evidence instruction had long since passed from both a procedural and practical standpoint. See State v. Williams, 319 S.C. 54, 56, 459 S.E.2d 519, 520 (Ct. App. 1995) (“The trial court had no obligation in this case to give the instruction that Williams requested because the time for Williams to properly request a particular

instruction had passed.”). Just like the objection raised in Lundy, Appellant’s untimely objection was insufficient to preserve his issue with the jury charge for appellate review.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and the appellate court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting State v. Bridges, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d 212, 212 (1982)).

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). In reviewing a trial judge’s jury instructions, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). When reviewing the trial judge’s jury instructions, the appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 664, 594 S.E.2d 462, 474 (2004). A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied. State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 213, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009). A jury charge is appropriate if it is substantially correct and adequately covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct

and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996).

Analysis / Discussion

In State v. Logan, our Supreme Court considered whether the circumstantial evidence jury instruction from Grippon remained an appropriate statement of the law. 405 S.C. at 90, 747 S.E.2d at 448. Logan asserted that the charge from Grippon was invalidated by the Court's more recent decisions in cases involving challenges to the denials of directed verdict motions. Logan, 405 S.C. at 91, 747 S.E.2d at 448. However, the Court disagreed and found that the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury on the law of circumstantial evidence in a manner consistent with the charge articulated in Grippon. Logan, 405 S.C. at 94, 747 S.E.2d at 449. The Court then went on to propose a new circumstantial evidence jury charge containing the following language:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial – direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence directly proves the existence of a fact and does not require deduction. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact.

Crimes may be proven by circumstantial evidence. The law makes no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, however, to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If these circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed.

The State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden rests with the State regardless of whether the State relies on direct evidence, circumstantial evidence, or some combination of the two.

Id. at 99, 747 S.E.2d at 452. Regarding the newly-articulated charge, the Court instructed that the charge should be provided “when so requested by a defendant[.]” Id. Thus, the Court modified its earlier holdings in Grippon and Cherry to allow trial judges to instruct juries on circumstantial evidence using its proposed language if that language was requested by a defendant. Logan, 405 S.C. at 100, 747 S.E.2d at 453.

Here, the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury because she properly charged the jury on the relevant and applicable law. Specifically, the trial judge instructed the jury that Appellant was presumed innocent and that the State had the burden of proving Appellant’s guilt for the indicted offense beyond a reasonable doubt and thoroughly and completely defined reasonable doubt for the jury. Furthermore, when instructing the jury on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge explained the relevant law to the jury in the manner specifically recommended in Grippon and expressly adopted as a correct charge on circumstantial evidence in Cherry. See Cherry, 361 S.C. at 601, 606 S.E.2d at 482 (“[W]e hold that the recommended language in Grippon is the sole and exclusive charge to be given in circumstantial evidence cases in this state, along with a proper reasonable doubt instruction.”); see also Logan, 405 S.C. at 94, 747 S.E.2d at 449 (“[T]he trial court did not err in providing a circumstantial evidence charge consistent with Grippon.”). Thus, by instructing the jury on all of the applicable law and in a manner expressly recognized by our Supreme Court as an appropriate statement of the law on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury during Appellant’s trial. See Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472 (“[T]he trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.”).

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